Dissertationes Forestales 331

Producing information from airborne LiDAR data for peatland forest management

Mikko Niemi

Department of Forest Sciences Faculty of Agriculture and Forestry University of Helsinki

Academic dissertation

To be presented for public discussion with the permission of the Faculty of Agriculture and Forestry of the University of Helsinki, in hall 108 (lecture room B3) of the Forest Sciences building (Latokartanonkaari 7, Helsinki), on January 13th, 2023, at 12 o'clock noon.

Title of dissertation: Producing information from airborne LiDAR data for peatland forest management *Author:* Mikko Niemi

Dissertationes Forestales 331 https://doi.org/10.14214/df.331

© Author Licenced <u>CC BY-NC-ND 4.0</u>

Thesis Supervisor: Professor Jari Vauhkonen Department of Forest Sciences, University of Helsinki, Finland

Pre-examiners: Associate Professor Laura Chasmer Department of Geography, University of Lethbridge, Canada

Professor Timo Tokola School of Forest Sciences, University of Eastern Finland, Finland

Opponent: Associate Professor Hannu Marttila Research Unit of Water, Energy and Environmental Engineering, University of Oulu, Finland

ISSN 1795-7389 (online) ISBN 978-951-651-752-3 (pdf)

Publishers: Finnish Society of Forest Science Faculty of Agriculture and Forestry of the University of Helsinki School of Forest Sciences of the University of Eastern Finland

Editorial Office: Finnish Society of Forest Science Viikinkaari 6, FI-00790 Helsinki, Finland http://www.dissertationesforestales.fi **Niemi M.** (2022). Producing information from airborne LiDAR data for peatland forest management. Dissertationes Forestales 331. 40 p. https://doi.org/10.14214/df.331

ABSTRACT

In Finland, peatland forests are significant for wood supply, although simultaneously, they are also important for biodiversity, carbon sequestration, water conservation, and recreation. In the 1960s and 1970s, peatland forests in Finland were extensively drained to increase tree growth and fulfil the needs of the forest sector. However, this extensive drainage has negatively impacted on the biodiversity of peatland ecosystems, and substantially increased nutrient and sediment emissions to lakes and rivers resulting in eutrophication, turbidity, and brownification of these water bodies.

This dissertation presents a number of approaches to move peatland forest management in a more environmentally sound direction, which may increase the general acceptability of peatland forestry. Airborne LiDAR (Light detection and ranging, i.e., laser scanning) derived 3D point cloud provides useful data, for example, to estimate forest biomass, to identify lowproductive peatland forests, to model overland water flows, and to identify wet areas. The strength of airborne LiDAR is the ability of laser pulses to pass through tree canopies and obtain accurate observations from the ground level. The information derived from airborne LiDAR can enhance the planning of peatland forest management, as much of the planning can be done remotely, and supplementary field work can be implemented in areas of strategic need.

This study presented the novel idea of applying local binary patterns for the prediction of terrain trafficability, which should be considered in further studies and practice. The moisture index derived from the local neighborhood can reveal the small-scale variations in terrain moisture. This study also presented the novel idea to create spatial models to identify suitable locations for water protection structures, which may help forest managers to plan water protection of ditch network maintenance or peatland restoration operations. Overall, the utilization of airborne LiDAR-derived information for the development of peatland forestry practices shows great potential.

Keywords: Digital elevation model, Forest inventory, Overland flow modeling, Remote sensing, Terrain trafficability, Water protection

TIIVISTELMÄ

Suometsät muodostavat tärkeän puuvarannon suomalaiselle metsäteollisuudelle, mutta samaan aikaan suoekosysteemit ovat tärkeitä metsien monimuotoisuuden, hiilensidonnan, vesiensuojelun ja virkistyskäytön kannalta. Suometsiä ojitettiin laaja-alaisesti kasvavan metsäteollisuuden tarpeisiin 1960–70 -luvuilla, mikä lisäsi merkittävästi puuston kasvua turvemailla. Ojitukset heikensivät kuitenkin suometsien monimuotoisuutta ja lisäsivät huomattavasti vesistöjen kiintoaine- ja ravinnekuormitusta, mikä on aiheuttanut järvien ja jokien rehevöitymistä, samentumista ja tummentumista.

Tämä väitöskirja esittelee käytännönläheisiä mahdollisuuksia, joiden avulla suometsien hoidossa voidaan kustannustehokkaasti huomioida erityisesti metsien monimuotoisuus ja vesiensuojelu. Suometsien hakkuita ja ojituksia kritisoidaan laajasti, joten suometsänhoidon yleisen hyväksyttävyyden lisääminen ympäristöasioiden paremmalla huomioimisella on tarpeen. Lentolaserkeilauksen tuottama 3D-pistepilvi tarjoaa erinomaisen aineiston muun muassa biomassan määrän ja laadun arviointiin, heikkotuottoisten alueiden tunnistamiseen ja rajaamiseen, pintavesien virtauksen mallintamiseen sekä kosteiden maastonkohtien kartoittamiseen. Laserkeilauksen vahvuus muihin kaukokartoitusmenetelmiin verrattuna on sen kyky tuottaa maanpinnasta erittäin tarkka korkeusmalli, sillä keilaimen lähettämät pulssit pystyvät läpäisemään metsän latvuskerroksen.

Korkeusmallista laskettujen, kohteen lähiympäristöä kuvaavien tekstuuripiirteiden käyttö maaston kantavuuden ennustamisesta on uusi idea, joka kannattaa huomioida jatkotutkimuksissa ja käytännössä, koska tekstuuripiirteet kuvasivat lupaavasti hyvin pienialaista, leimikon sisäistä kantavuuden vaihtelua. Toinen uusi idea tässä väitöskirjassa on vesiensuojelurakenteiden automaattiseen sijoitteluun tähtäävä laskentamenetelmä, jonka on tarkoitus helpottaa ojituksen suunnittelijan työtä, koska etenkin pintavalutuskentille on yleisesti ollut vaikea löytää sopivia sijoituspaikkoja. Ylipäätään laserkeilausaineistoista voidaan johtaa paljon sellaista tietoa, joka auttaa merkittävästi suometsänhoidon ja ojien kunnostuksen suunnittelua. Paikkatiedon avulla valtaosa suunnittelusta voidaan jatkossa tehdä toimistotyönä, jolloin suunnittelun maastotyöt pystytään etukäteen kohdistamaan tärkeimpiin maastonkohtiin.

PREFACE

The first steps of this dissertation were taken in 2014, when my professor at the time, **Markus Holopainen**, took me on for a new project financed by Metsähallitus. Forest legislation in Finland had changed, and Metsähallitus was interested to see whether the peatland areas that were released from the obligation of forest regeneration could be detected by airborne LiDAR data. I tested the estimation accuracy of forest inventory attributes in low-productive peatland forests. **Mikko Vastaranta** (a lecturer in University of Helsinki at that time, and currently a professor in University of Eastern Finland) and **Jussi Peuhkurinen** (Arbonaut Oy) guided me to non-parametric, area-based predictions of forest attributes using airborne LiDAR data. Thanks to Markus, Mikko and Jussi, I managed to get my first article published in 2015. However, in those days, I had no real idea as to how my dissertation might develop, and my special interest towards peatland forestry was only aroused much later.

After the first research project, I was offered a fantastic opportunity to go to Nairobi, Kenya, for a three-month employment period funded by development aid. After the African trip, Markus employed me in the university, and I continued my research career in a project led by Mikko V. There was ongoing work trying to predict forest stand age using a time series of photogrammetrically derived surface models, and I provided the majority of the statistical analyses to that research. I also remember a field work trip to Ilomantsi, where I was alone, drilling trees in the middle of Finland's most densely populated bear area, just before the bear hunting season started. This was a bit scary!

At that time, I also met my supervisor **Jari Vauhkonen**, who was working at the University of Helsinki. I worked part-time for Jari's project, where we tested how textural features derived from digital surface models could improve area-based forest inventories. We published one interesting paper in the Remote Sensing journal, and I also utilized the same textural features in my further studies of terrain trafficability.

In 2016, my aim was to develop a dissertation related to terrain trafficability predictions, which was a topical question for the Finnish forest sector after a number of winters with difficult harvesting conditions. I received substantial funding from *Metsämiesten Säätiö*, under the guidance of Markus and Mikko V. The first study proceeded as planned, but I had no idea how the research of this topic could be continued. I lost my motivation and wanted to try something else. However, I pushed through the long and difficult peer review, such that the results were published in Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research in 2017.

In May 2017, I was employed as a forest resource expert for Tapio Oy, which is a stateowned forest consulting company. The work for Tapio has enabled me to enlarge my understanding of Finnish forestry and to network actively. At this point, I must mention one person from Tapio, who has had a significant impact on the final form of this dissertation: water conservation specialist **Samuli Joensuu**. Samuli has promoted the use of spatial data in ditch network maintenance and water protection for a number of years, and I was able to participate in his project in 2019, when we developed a story map about utilizing open spatial data for planning peatland forest management.

I had a three-year break from science. I got married to my wife, **Anna**, and we were blessed with the arrival of our lovely daughter, **Saga**. The daily work for Tapio was interesting, and it offered a lot of possibilities to learn new things. However, I knew that this dissertation was at the mid-way point, and that it would only need 1.5–2 years of full-time concentration to finish it. In March 2020, I contacted Markus and Jari to tell them that I wanted to take study leave to finish my dissertation. By a lucky coincidence, Jari, who had started a professorship in forest planning a few months earlier, had a suitable funding from

the University of Helsinki to boost new research. He was willing to fund my work for a year so that I was able to plan the study leave without financial concerns. In addition, complementary funding from *Maa- ja Vesitekniikan tuki ry* at the time was very helpful.

In September 2020, I started my new co-operation with Jari. Following discussions with peatland researchers; **Paavo Ojanen**, **Harri Vasander**, and **Kari Minkkinen** from the University of Helsinki, we developed a plan to focus on water protection in peatland forestry. The aforementioned trio, strengthened by **Sakari Sarkkola** from Luke, were very open to discussions while I designed the studies **III** and **IV**. In addition, I managed to make useful contacts with water conservation specialists in ELY Pirkanmaa (Anne Mäkynen, especially), who supported my work and identified a suitable pilot area in Parkano.

In general, I like the models that we developed to predict terrain trafficability (study **II**) and those we developed to suggest water protection structures (study **IV**), and I really believe that those works may be useful. As the statistician George E. P. Box has said "All models are wrong, but some are useful". None of these phenomena can be exactly modeled, but the models can still produce information that can clearly improve forest management practices. I also like study **III**, where I tried to determine the best practices to produce hydrologically conditioned elevation models and the subsequent overland flow networks by using high-density airborne LiDAR data. In my opinion, the weakness of this thesis is that the mapping of low-productive peatlands in study **I** is already a little outdated, as the technology and methods of LiDAR-based forest inventories have significantly developed in the last eight years. An equivalent study should give better results if it was repeated today.

Grateful thanks to Jari for making these last steps possible – I don't know whether I would ever have finished my PhD without his support. Also big thanks to Markus, Mikko, and Jussi, who guided me in the initial years. Thanks to Paavo, Harri, Kari, and Sakari for participating in the final paper – one highlight in the middle of strict Covid-19 restrictions was our great field trip to Parkano. Thanks to Samuli, **Raija Laiho** (Luke) and **Nuutti Kiljunen** (Finnish Forest Centre) for forming the thesis committee and for supporting my work.

Last but not least, grateful thanks to my wife **Anna** for all her help, team spirit, sympathy and encouragement. And thanks to our 4-year-old **Saga** for reminding me that there is something much more important than this thesis in the world – such as going to a sandpit or playing Paw Patrol figures with her. Thanks also to my parents, **Taina** and **Jukka**, for always encouraging me towards higher education.

Helsinki, November 2022

Mikko Niemi

LIST OF ORIGINAL ARTICLES

- I. Niemi M, Vastaranta M, Peuhkurinen J, Holopainen M (2015) Forest inventory attribute prediction using airborne laser scanning in low-productive forestrydrained boreal peatlands. Silva Fenn 49(2), article id 1218. https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.1218
- II. Niemi MT, Vastaranta M, Vauhkonen J, Melkas T, Holopainen M (2017) Airborne LiDAR-derived elevation data in terrain trafficability mapping. Scand J For Res 32(8): 726–773. https://doi.org/10.1080/02827581.2017.1296181
- III. Niemi MT (2021) Improvements to stream extraction and soil wetness mapping within a forested catchment by increasing airborne LiDAR data density – A case study in Parkano, Western Finland. Silva Fenn 55(5), article id 10557. https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.10557
- IV. Niemi MT, Ojanen P, Sarkkola S, Vasander H, Minkkinen K, Vauhkonen J (2022) Using digital terrain model for placing overland flow fields and uncleaned ditch sections for water protection in peatland forest management. Submitted manuscript.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTION

Studies I, II and IV were designed together with all co-authors. Mikko Niemi wrote the first version of all the manuscripts and was responsible for data processing and statistical analyses in all the studies. In study I, Jussi Peuhkurinen was responsible for the field measurements. In study II, Mikko Niemi carried out all the field work. In study IV, Mikko Niemi organized the acquisition of expert evaluations. All co-authors participated in the revision of the published manuscripts (I–II).

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.	Introduction			
	1.1 The role of peatland forests in Finland	9		
	1.2 Information required in peatland forest management	10		
	1.2.1 Strategic and tactical planning	10		
	1.2.2 Harvesting planning	10		
	1.2.3 Water protection	11		
	1.3 Utilizing airborne LiDAR in peatland forest management			
	1.3.1 Terrain modeling, overland flow routing and wetness mapping	12		
	1.3.2 Measuring forest attributes	12		
	1.4 Thesis scope and objectives	13		
2.	Materials	14		
	2.1 Study areas and field data	14		
	2.1.1 Haapajärvi	14		
	2.1.2 Uusimaa	14		
	2.1.3 Parkano	16		
	2.2 Spatial data	16		
	2.2.1 LiDAR data	16		
	2.2.2 Soil data			
	2.2.3 Topographic database			
3.	Theoretical overview of the methodologies	17		
	3.1 Generating elevation models from airborne LiDAR data	17		
	3.2 DEM hydrologic conditioning and overland flow routing	17		
	3.3 Extracting features from LiDAR data for further modeling	18		
	3.3.1 Height percentiles and density features	18		
	3.3.2 Terrain topography-derived features			
	3.4 Area-based prediction of peatland forest attributes	20		
	3.5 Logistic regression of terrain trafficability	20		
4.	Results and discussion	21		
	4.1 Planning the management of low-productive forestry-drained peatlands	21		
	4.2 Mapping within-stand soil wetness variation	22		
	4.3 Placing water protection structures within the landscape	25		
5.	Conclusions	25		
Re	eferences			

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 The role of peatland forests in Finland

Finland is known as the land of forests, or the land of a thousand lakes, although the country could also be called the land of thousands of peatlands. Forestry land covers 86% of the total land area of Finland, and approximately one third of the forestry land is on peat soils. Drainage of pristine peatlands for increased tree growth was very intensive in the 1960s and 1970s, and currently 53% of the peatland area is drained (Korhonen et al. 2021).

The precondition for timber production in boreal peatlands is that the water table level is lower than 30 cm below the soil surface during the growing season (Vompersky and Sirin 1997; Sarkkola et al. 2012). Before an artificial drainage ditch network is constructed in boreal peatland forests, the water table level is typically near the soil surface, which significantly limits tree growth. Extensive soil drainage has clearly increased forest growth in Finland, as the area of productive forest land (determined as those forests with volumetric growth rates > 1 m³ ha⁻¹ year⁻¹) has increased from 18.7 million hectares (1960s) to 20.3 million hectares (2010s), mainly due to drainage of peatland forests (Korhonen et al. 2021).

Today, drainage of pristine peatlands is rare in Finland (Korhonen et al. 2021), although ditch network maintenance (DNM) i.e., clearing of ditches and/or complementary ditching, was carried out on an average 50,000 hectares per year in the 2010s (Vaahtera et al. 2021). The DNM operations are needed due to the gradual deterioration of the drainage ditches, which leads to a rise in the groundwater level in the peat between the ditches. Groundwater depth should be kept sufficiently low to maintain undisturbed tree growth (Heikurainen 1980), thus it is recommended that ditches are cleared to a depth of 0.6–1.1 m (Vanhatalo et al. 2019).

From a timber production perspective, drainage of peatlands has been successful, and a significant proportion of peatland forests are now reaching the phase of forest regeneration. Currently, 21% of available saw timber and 34% of pulp wood are located on peatlands, which makes peatland forests a considerable timber resource in Finland (Korhonen et al. 2021). However, peatland stands are more difficult to harvest than mineral soils due to their low load-bearing capacity (Uusitalo et al. 2015), shorter soil frost season (Kellomäki et al. 2010), and the typically long distances to the road network. Thus, improved and up-to-date data of the soil bearing capacity of peatlands and fine-grained mineral soils is needed to guarantee year-round timber harvesting for the forest sector.

However, 13% of drained peatlands are classified as poorly productive or as unproductive forests, determined by an average volume growth rate of $< 1 \text{ m}^3 \text{ ha}^{-1} \text{ year}^{-1}$ during the rotation period (Korhonen et al. 2021). These low-productive drained peatlands (LPDP) are areas where ditch conditioning and forest regeneration are not profitable (Laiho et al. 2016). Finnish forest legislation was updated in 2014 and the requirement of forest regeneration was withdrawn for LPDP. Since then, the re-use of LPDP has been a topic of debate in peatland forestry (Tolvanen et al. 2018).

Peatland forestry faces several challenges, in addition to the problems associated with groundwater depth, difficult harvesting conditions, and the profitability of forest management. Drainage has increased the sediment and nutrient loads from peatlands to water bodies, which is harmful to aquatic ecosystems (Nieminen et al. 2018b; Finér et al. 2021). From a climatic perspective, the drainage of peatlands has had both positive and negative effects on the greenhouse gas balance (Ojanen et al. 2013). Therefore, water conservation

and carbon sequestration must be carefully considered to guarantee social acceptability of peatland forest management in the future.

1.2 Information required in peatland forest management

1.2.1 Strategic and tactical planning

Various aspects, i.e., environmental, social and economic values, must be considered in multipurpose decision-making to achieve sustainable forest management (Hall 2001). Peatland areas can provide multiple ecosystem services, such as timber, peat, biodiversity conservation, carbon sequestration, flood risk control, water quality control, and recreational benefits. However, some of these ecosystem services are contradictory, and there are obvious trade-offs between the commercial use of peatlands and the other ecosystem services (Tolvanen et al. 2012). In addition, the climatic perspective adds further complexity: currently, peatland forests have a climate cooling impact via latent energy partitioning and tree growth, but DNM-based even-aged forest management can transform fertile peatland sites into greenhouse gas sources (Admiral et al. 2006; Ojanen et al. 2013).

A wide range of studies have attempted to optimize timber production on forestry-drained peatland stands (Miina 1996; Ahtikoski et al. 2012; Kojola et al. 2012; Hökkä et al. 2017; Ahtikoski and Hökkä 2019). Other studies have drawn up guidelines for optimal ditch depths in even-aged forest management, as refraining from DNM operations and the avoidance of unnecessarily deep ditches can move peatland forestry management practices in a more environmentally sound direction (Hökkä et al. 2021; Laurén et al. 2021). In addition, the negative environmental and climatic effects of DNM operations can be reduced by using continuous cover forestry, which is a feasible management alternative despite the decreased tree growth, as much less investment is needed for forest growth if regeneration cuttings are avoided (Nieminen et al. 2018a; Juutinen et al. 2021).

Decision-making in forestry-drained peatlands can be supported by the production of accurate data: forest inventory attributes (Brosofske et al. 2014), soil properties, wetness, flow accumulation, and ditch depth. Typically, peatland stands exhibit large within-stand variation, which should be considered in decision-making. Therefore, planning and management of peatland forests is now directed towards precision forestry, where treatments are instead implemented at the sub-stand or even individual tree-level (Holopainen et al. 2014; Melander 2021; Persson et al. 2022).

1.2.2 Harvesting planning

Harvesting operations are a challenge on peatlands and fine-grained mineral soils, where heavy forest logging and transport machines typically cause soil rutting and compaction due to the low load-bearing capacity of these soils (Sirén et al. 2019). Rut formation should be minimized during harvesting operations, because the recovery of soil microorganisms is strongly related to the level of soil compaction (Hartmann et al. 2014). On mineral soils, the decrease in water and oxygen supply to plants and microorganisms caused by compaction leads to a reduction in forest production and regeneration (Cambi et al. 2015). On peat soils, root production is decreased after disturbance, although boreal peatlands are rather resilient to soil compaction caused by forest machines (Lepilin et al. 2022). In thinning operations, the machines work within the growing tree stands where soil damage may reduce tree growth

5–10 years after thinning (Wästerlund 1992). In general, the degree of soil damage depends on the machinery used, site characteristics, terrain topography, and weather conditions (Saarilahti 2002; Nugent et al. 2003; Vega-Nieva et al. 2009; Hartmann et al. 2014; Cambi et al. 2015).

Harvesting conditions are determined using a concept of *terrain trafficability*, which describes the ability of the terrain to support the passage of vehicles (International Society for Terrain-Vehicle Systems Standardization Committee 1977). On fine-grained mineral soils, terrain trafficability depends on soil texture, dry density, moisture and stoniness, i.e., trafficability increases with increasing soil dry density and stoniness, or decreasing soil moisture and clay/peat content (Saarilahti 2002; Eliasson and Wästerlund 2007; Sirén et al. 2019). On course-grained mineral soils, terrain trafficability is more independent on soil moisture, thus the greater clay fraction results in a greater reduction in the soil load-bearing capacity under wet weather conditions (Elbanna and Whitney 1987). On peatlands, total tree biomass and the shear modulus of the topmost peat layers are the main factors influencing terrain trafficability (Uusitalo et al. 2015). Moreover, the amount of logging residues on strip roads leads to a significant decrease in soil rutting during forest operations (Sirén et al 2013).

Forest machinery should be used efficiently all year-round, although the seasonal variation in soil moisture makes that difficult in boreal forests. Wet conditions typically interrupt harvesting operations on peatlands and fine-grained mineral soils, which causes economical losses for the forest entrepreneurs. Improved and up-to-date information of terrain trafficability would enable more effective stand allocation and better forwarding route planning for timber procurement (Suvinen 2006; Mohtashami et al. 2017; Salmivaara et al. 2020).

1.2.3 Water protection

Overall, forest management contributes 17%, 35%, and 12% of annual nitrogen (N), phosphorus (P), and total organic carbon (TOC) emissions, respectively, to water bodies in Finland (Finér et al. 2021). Peatland forests are hotspots of sediment and nutrient loads from human-induced forestry and their serious impact on water quality has been addressed (Nieminen et al 2018b; Finér et al. 2021). Peatland forestry can harm ecologically sensitive streams, rivers, and lakes, because the sediment and nutrient loading may cause eutrophication, turbidity, and brownification of the water, and contribute to the loss of aquatic biodiversity (Tammi et al. 1999; Brönmark and Hansson 2002; Joensuu 2002; Schindler 2006; Holopainen and Lehikoinen 2022). Pressure to achieve sustainable and environmentally-sound land use management means that forest owners must consider water quality in peatland forest management (Nieminen et al. 2018c; Marttila et al. 2020, Miettinen et al. 2020).

The DNM operations aim to provide adequate drainage for tree growth by decreasing groundwater depth to below 0.30–0.35 cm during the growing season (Sarkkola et al. 2012; Hökkä et al. 2021). Nutrient and sediment export from DNM operations can be mitigated by avoiding unnecessary ditch cleaning or by adapting the minimum required ditch depth according to climatic conditions, stand volume, peat properties, and ditch spacing (Hökkä et al. 2021). In addition, nutrient and sediments loads can be reduced by constructing water protection structures, such as sedimentation ponds, peak runoff controls, buffer zones, and overland flow fields, and by leaving breaks in ditch cleaning operations (Väänänen et al. 2008; Marttila and Kløve 2010; Vikman et al. 2010; Finér et al. 2018; Haahti et al. 2018).

Typically, there are trade-offs between water quality control and the optimal drainage level for tree growth, which affects the choice of forest management and water protection alternatives (Miettinen et al. 2020). As forest managers are responsible for the selection of methods for water protection, in conjunction with harvesting and DNM planning, they therefore need improved tools to support their decision-making.

1.3 Utilizing airborne LiDAR in peatland forest management

1.3.1 Terrain modeling, overland flow routing and wetness mapping

Currently, airborne light detection and ranging (LiDAR) is a leading technology used to generate a digital elevation model (DEM, Kraus and Pfeifer 1998; Hodgson and Bresnahan 2004; Sharma et al. 2020). As LiDAR pulses have the capacity to pass through the forest canopy, airborne LiDAR is a significantly more accurate method for terrain modeling than photogrammetry (Kanostrevac et al. 2019).

In mineral soils, a high-resolution DEM is the primary data source for modeling hydrological properties, such as flow direction and flow accumulation, or mapping wet soils, flood risk areas or riverine topography (Wilson et al. 2008; Hohenthal et al. 2011; Muhadi et al. 2020). Overland flow routing is typically based on the multiple flow direction algorithm, which allows flow distribution to all possible downhill directions (Quinn et al. 1991; Holmgren 1994; Seibert and McGlynn 2007). However, in peatland soils water movement is often driven by hydraulic conductivity, thus it does not necessarily follow the matrix flow (Laurén et al. 2021). LiDAR-derived DEMs always contain local depressions that do not exhibit any downward direction, which can affect discontinuity in computational overland flow routing (Jenson and Domingue 1988; Lindsay and Creed 2005). Depressions must be either filled (O'Callaghan and Mark 1984) or breached through barriers (Martz and Garbrecht 1998; 1999) to manipulate hydrologically conditioned, depressionless DEM.

Soil wetness can be predicted using either the Topographic Wetness Index (TWI, Tarboton 1997) or the Depth-to-Water Index (DTW, Murphy et al. 2007), as both methods are reliable in boreal forests (Murphy et al. 2009; Ågren et al. 2014). Also, new machine learning algorithms may be useful for mapping wet soils (Lidberg et al. 2020; Ågren et al. 2021). Furthermore, improved flow routing and recognition of wet areas may support both peatland forest management (Launiainen et al. 2019) and terrain trafficability predictions (Salmivaara et al. 2020; Hoffmann et al. 2022).

1.3.2 Measuring forest attributes

At present, forest monitoring is increasingly carried out using remote sensing (RS). Of the various alternatives, airborne LiDAR has become the leading technology for the measurement of forest inventory attributes (Hyyppä et al. 2008; Maltamo et al. 2014). Stand-level forest inventories are often implemented using the area-based approach (ABA), where the prediction of different forest attributes is based on the statistical dependence between field-measured attributes and RS-derived metrics, and some non-parametric estimation method, such as *k*-nearest neighbor (Tomppo 1990; Næsset 2002; Maltamo et al. 2006).

The accuracy of an ABA-based forest inventory depends on the precision and the coverage of the field-measured sample plot data (Maltamo et al. 2011; White et al. 2013; Ruotsalainen et al. 2019). Moreover, the selection strategy of reference plots directly affects

the value of the forest inventory data in decision-making (Ruotsalainen et al. 2019). Reference data of approximately 500 georeferenced field plots are collected in LiDAR-based Finnish forest inventory campaigns, although all field plots are typically placed on very productive forest lands and are therefore biased towards timber production. In non-parametric estimation methods, the reference data should cover the entire range of different forest stands because the predictions cannot be extrapolated (Maltamo and Packalen 2014), which is problematic when a decision-maker is interested, for example, in low-productive forests.

Nowadays, the pulse density used in airborne LiDAR inventory campaigns is rapidly increasing. In the 2010s, Finnish Forest Centre (FFC) used a pulse density of approximately 0.5 m^{-2} in their nationwide forest inventory campaigns, but since summer 2020, the pulse density has increased to approximately 5 m^{-2} (National Land Survey of Finland (NLS) 2022a), which enables forest inventory attributes to be predicted with improved accuracy (Jakubowski et al. 2013). In addition, new data processing methods, such as deep learning algorithms, can improve the prediction of forest inventory data from 3D point clouds (Ayrey and Hayes 2018; Hamedianfar et al. 2022).

1.4 Thesis scope and objectives

The aim of this dissertation is to produce useful information from airborne LiDAR data for peatland forest management, which may enhance precision forestry and multi-purpose decision-making in those areas. In study **I**, we tested the ABA inventory method on low-productive forestry-drained peatlands whose re-use is a topic of debate in the Finnish forestry sector. In study **II**, we developed terrain trafficability prediction models for forest soils, which may provide useful information for timber procurement on peatlands and other sensitive soils. In study **III**, I studied the added value of high-resolution airborne LiDAR data on overland flow routing and I proposed best practices to process hydrologically conditioned elevation model from LiDAR-derived point cloud data. Furthermore, the results in study **III** were used in study **IV**, where we developed spatial analysis for the placement of water protection structures within a catchment. The specific objectives of studies **I-IV** were as follows:

- I. Current forest inventory practices are focused on productive forests with the strongest economic interest. However, since the changes in Finnish forest legislation in 2014, there has been growing national interest in low-productive forestry-drained peatlands (LPDP), where the growing tree stands are typically small, sparse and uneven in size. In this study, we evaluated how many field-measured reference plots would be needed to apply ABA to LPDP. The accuracy of forest inventory attributes was reported for total and species-specific stem volumes, stem number, and average stem volume.
- II. Heavy off-road traffic may cause severe soil damage to peatlands and fine-grained mineral soils, which could be reduced if reliable terrain trafficability data were available. We investigated the best DEM-derived predictor variables of soil rutting and studied the potential of open-source spatial data for the generation of soil damage probability maps. The aim here was to produce useful terrain trafficability information for forest managers and entrepreneurs to assist in planning forwarding routes within harvesting areas.

- III. Reliable information on water movement and flow accumulation is needed, especially in peatland forest management, where water management must be considered in every operation. In this study, I analyzed the current best practices to process hydrologically conditioned DEM from high-resolution airborne LiDAR data. This information is essential for the calculation of flow accumulation, wetness indices, and catchment boundaries in the area of interest.
- IV. Peatland forestry is a key source of sediment and nutrient export to downstream waterways, which affects eutrophication, brownification, and loss of biodiversity in aquatic ecosystems. Overland flow fields and uncleaned ditch sections are cost-efficient methods to restrain the negative environmental effects of ditch network maintenance. We developed a spatial analysis workflow to place the above-mentioned water protection structures within the area of interest, which may help forest managers to plan environmentally sound operations on drained peatlands.

2. MATERIALS

2.1 Study areas and field data

2.1.1 Haapajärvi

Study **I** was implemented in the Haapajärvi municipality, which is in North Ostrobothnia, Finland (Fig. 1). The area belongs to the middle boreal vegetation zone, has a humid climate, and the mean annual volume increment of growing stock on forest land is rather small by Finnish standards: $4.2 \text{ m}^3 \text{ ha}^{-1} \text{ year}^{-1}$. Around 41% of the forest land is on peatlands, and 62% of peatlands on forestry land are drained (Vaahtera et al. 2021). In Haapajärvi, it is estimated that approximately 7–8% of drained peatlands are low-productive (Laiho et al. 2016).

Airborne LiDAR data was collected from the study area in 2012 and FFC measured 799 reference plots for a stand-level forest inventory in the same year. According to the FFC field sample design, the reference data were mainly allocated to productive forest stands. Thus, we measured 53 additional sample plots in 2013 from poorly growing peatland forests to augment the LPDP field data.

2.1.2 Uusimaa

Study **II** was carried out in the Uusimaa area, which is most populous region in Finland, covering 26 municipalities, including the national capital Helsinki (Fig. 1). The study area belongs to the southern boreal vegetation zone, and the mean annual tree volume growth is 7.4 m³ ha⁻¹ year⁻¹. In the Uusimaa region, only 11% of forest land is on peatlands (Vaahtera et al. 2021), although fine-grained sensitive forest soils are found extensively and are at risk of soil rutting during harvesting operations (Tamminen and Tomppo 2008).

An airborne LiDAR inventory was implemented for the Uusimaa region in summer 2015, and we used that data to predict the potential occurrence of soil rutting. Field data were collected from 19 harvesting stands after forwarding operations in autumn 2015. A total of 13 km of forwarding trails were mapped and assigned to three categories: undamaged (79%

of mapped trails), damaged (20%), and potential damage (1%). In addition, the following variables were either measured or estimated from 30 sample plots: 1) maximum rut depth, 2) amount of logging residues, 3) thickness of humus layer, 4) thickness of peat layer, 5) coverage of *Sphagnum* spp, 6) drainage status, 7) forest site type, and 8) soil stoniness.



Figure 1. Map of Finland and location of the study areas: Haapajärvi, Uusimaa and Parkano. Copyright of the country shapefiles: EuroGeographics for the administrative boundaries, 2021.

2.1.3 Parkano

Studies **III–IV** were carried out in the catchment of Lake Kovesjärvi, situated in the Parkano municipality (Fig. 1). The area is located on the border of the southern and middle boreal vegetation zones. Drainage intensity is very high in this flat and peatland-dominated catchment, as approximately half of the forest stands grow on drained peatlands. Lake Kovesjärvi is classified as a water conservation hotspot area by the ELY Centre of Pirkanmaa (Alajoki et al. 2022).

The region was one of the first production areas covered by high-density airborne LiDAR data (5 m⁻²) in June 2020. In study **III**, the topological database of Finland (NLS 2022b) was used as a reference data for stream extraction, and no field data was measured. In study **IV**, 10 suggested overland flow fields and 26 suggested uncleaned ditch sections were visited with peatland forest management professionals and researchers to see their characteristics and suitability to the suggested purpose.

2.2 Spatial data

2.2.1 LiDAR data

In Finland, the National Land Survey (NLS) is responsible for nationwide airborne LiDAR inventories and ground elevation modeling. Correspondingly, FFC is responsible for stand-level forest inventories, where airborne LiDAR has been utilized since 2010. Currently, LiDAR data are available for the whole country. In the 2010s, the pulse density of LiDAR inventories was approximately 0.5 m⁻². As a result of technical developments, the pulse density was increased to 5 m⁻² in summer 2020, which will be the standard pulse density of Finnish nationwide LiDAR inventories in the 2020s (NLS 2022a). The former low-density airborne LiDAR data were used in studies **II–II**, and the high-density data were utilized in studies **III–IV** (Table 1).

2.2.2 Soil data

Information related to soil properties is typically determined by soil types (Aaltonen et al. 1949). In Finland, Geological Survey of Finland (GTK) has mapped soil types since 1972, and the data is freely available. Soil samples were drilled at a scale of 1:20000, and the soil stands were interpolated from these field measurements using terrain maps and aerial images (Haavisto 1983). However, this scale is too small to represent the considerable within stand variation in soil types, although the soil map can indicate the overall presence of fine-grained soils in the area of interest. In study **II**, the potential of the GTK soil data for terrain trafficability prediction was tested.

2.2.3 Topographic database

The topographic database is maintained by the NLS (2022b) to represent terrain properties for the whole of Finland. Elements, such as the road networks, buildings, and construction, administrative borders, geographic names, land use, waterways, and elevation, are freely available in digitized form. The road network and vectorized waterways were utilized in studies **III–IV**.

Study	Area	Year	Pulse	Data processing and software
			density	
Ι	Haapajärvi	2012	0.8 m ⁻²	Whole processing using TerraScan
II	Uusimaa	2015	0.5 m ⁻²	DEM prepared by NLS
III–IV	Parkano	2020	5 m ⁻²	Point classification by NLS, further
				processing using lidR and WhiteboxTools

Table 1. Summary of the different airborne light detection and ranging (LiDAR) data sets. All data sets were acquired from the file service of National Land Survey of Finland (NLS).

3. THEORETICAL OVERVIEW OF THE METHODOLOGIES

3.1 Generating elevation models from airborne LiDAR data

The digital elevation model (DEM) is a representation of the ground surface, where surface objects, such as trees and buildings, are excluded, while a more specific digital terrain model (DTM) term to represent the earth's surface also exists in the scientific literature (see Guth et al. 2021). In practice, the terminologies of DEM and DTM are used in a contradictory manner.

Airborne LiDAR data inventory produces a 3D point cloud of an environment. The subsequent DEM modeling starts with the classification of ground points from the point cloud, which is most often implemented using the slope-based filtering (Vosselman 2000). Next, the terrain model is interpolated from ground observations, and among different interpolation alternatives (triangulated irregular network (TIN), inverse-distance weighting (IDW), natural neighbor, spline, minimum curvature), universal kriging has proved to be the most accurate option for DEM interpolation (Heritage et al. 2009; Guo et al. 2010; Arun 2013).

Landscape representation and hydrological simulations are affected, in addition to the environment and terrain characteristics (e.g. slope) to be modeled, by the choices on how to classify ground points and interpolate the DEM to the chosen raster cell size, i.e., spatial resolution (Zhang and Montgomery 1994; Ariza-Villaverde et al. 2015). The spatial resolution refers to the area of land that is represented by a single grid cell. The smaller areas that are represented by a unique DEM value indicate a higher resolution. Also, higher resolution implies more detailed DEM and greater preservation of terrain features, such as artificial ditches, fallen trees, ericaceous shrubs, etc. On the other hand, a lower resolution smooths over terrain features and may give useful information of landscape topography on a larger scale (Lindsay et al. 2019).

3.2 DEM hydrologic conditioning and overland flow routing

Digital elevation models are widely used in hydrological analyses because the terrain topography significantly affects water movement in the landscape. Overland flow routing describes the process of computing water movements through the landscape, which provides information of flow accumulation in different areas (e.g., Wilson et al. 2008; López-Vicente et al. 2014). The multiple-flow-direction algorithm (Quinn et al. 1991; Holmgren 1994;

Seibert and McGlynn 2007) provides realistic information of water accumulation, soil wetness and stream network at the landscape-level (Murphy et al. 2008; 2009; Pei et al. 2010; Ågren et al. 2014).

Despite the data source, interpolation method, and spatial resolution, DEM rasters unavoidably contain depressions that affect the discontinuity in the computational flow accumulation (Jenson and Domingue 1988; Lindsay and Creed 2005). Thus, elevation models must be conditioned as "depressionless" to achieve continuous water flows though the digital landscape (Woodrow et al. 2016). Experience has shown that breaching algorithms (Martz and Garbrecht 1998; 1999) provide the most reliable model of stream networks, since it simulates culverts under bridges (Lindsay and Dhun 2015; Lidberg et al. 2017). In addition, the results can be improved if culvert locations are known, and they are burned onto the DEM raster prior to more robust DEM conditioning (Lidberg et al. 2017). Another strategy of DEM conditioning is filling (O'Callaghan and Mark 1984; Wang and Liu 2006), which may be used as a secondary option in DEM processing.

3.3 Extracting features from LiDAR data for further modeling

3.3.1 Height percentiles and density features

The use of RS-derived data in environmental modeling is based on predictor variables extracted from different data sources. There is a long tradition of extracting different features from aerial or satellite images and using them in forest inventories (Poso 1972; Tomppo 1990). Recently, airborne LiDAR has proven to be the superior data source compared to photogrammetry in forest inventories, because it is possible to measure height from ground level for all LiDAR returns (Næsset 2002; Maltamo et al. 2006). In addition, depending on the modeling purpose, predictor variables can be extracted from various different data sources, such as synthetic aperture radar (SAR, Yu et al. 2015), terrain topography, climatic data, traffic, population density or land use (e.g., Stahl et al. 2006; Hoek et al. 2008; Synes and Osborne 2011; Salmivaara et al. 2020; Frizzle et al. 2021).

The idea of extracting different height percentiles and density features from the first and the last pulses of airborne LiDAR and then applying them in forest attribute predictions was presented by Næsset (2002). Typically, two kind of predictor variables are used in practice: 1) height percentiles to indicate the height distribution of the growing trees, and 2) density features that indicate canopy closure. The set of geometric predictor variables tested in study I is shown in Table 2. Also, textural features extracted from a canopy surface model may contain additional information for the prediction of forest characteristics (Niemi and Vauhkonen 2016). More recently, full-waveform and radiometric features have shown potential to improve species-specific predictions of forest inventory attributes (Michałowska and Rapinski 2021).

3.3.2 Terrain topography-derived features

As terrain topography affects soil properties and soil wetness, it is reasonable to use topography-derived features for various modeling purposes, such as predicting soil vulnerability to erosion (Frizzle et al. 2021), terrain trafficability (Salmivaara et al. 2020) or augmenting forest growth models (Mohamedou et al. 2017). In general, the topography-derived features can be assigned to two classes: hydrological and textural features.

Hydrological features aim to explain water movement and flow accumulation in the landscape. The TWI and DTW indices are the most commonly used estimators of soil wetness, and they can also be used as predictor variables in environmental models, such as terrain trafficability mapping (Hoffmann et al. 2022). Also, hydrological features, such as flow direction, flow accumulation, channel length and watershed area have been tested for different environmental modeling purposes (e.g., Salmivaara et al. 2020; Frizzle et al. 2021).

Textural features are processed using the determined neighborhood of every DTM pixel. As comprehensively reviewed by Niemi and Vauhkonen (2016), there are numerous possible textural features that could characterize the texture of the most commonly used DTM statistics, such as the elevation, slope and aspect. In addition, DTM-derived terrain convexity (Iwahashi and Pike 2007) and local binary patterns (Ojala et al. 2002) are interesting options for further use that may contain useful information of terrain characteristics. In study **IV**, we presented a unique texture feature of terrain flatness perpendicular to flow direction, which was applied when placing overland flow fields.

Variable name	Variable description			
h10 _f – h100 _f	Point height at the <i>r</i> percentile of the first-echo points' height distribution			
	(r = 10, 20 100); ground points, i.e., points below the ground threshold			
	(= 2 m), are excluded.			
h10ı — h100ı	Point height at the <i>r</i> percentile of the last-echo points' height distribution			
	(r = 10, 20 100); ground points are excluded.			
penef	Penetration of first-echo points; calculated as the ratio of the number of			
	ground points to the number of all points.			
pene	Penetration of last-echo points.			
HV _{mean}	Mean of the first-echo high-vegetation points, i.e., points above the high			
	vegetation threshold (= 5 m).			
HV _{sd}	Standard deviation of the Z coordinates for the high vegetation first-echo			
	points.			
pc1ı – pc8ı	Ratio of the number of last-echo points with heights smaller or equal			
	to h_{max} to the number of all last-echo points, where $h_{max} = hclass_{start} + i^*$			
	$hclass_{size}$ ($i = 1, 2, 8$; $hclass_{start} = 1.5 m$; $hclass_{size} = 2.0 m$).			
p8530f	Proportional canopy density at a height equaling 30% of the 85th			
	percentile of first-echo points' height distribution; calculated as the ratio			
	of the number of first-echo points below that height to the number of all			
	first-echo points.			
p8580f	Proportional canopy density at a height equaling 80% of the 85th			
	percentile of first-echo points' height distribution.			
p9030f	Proportional canopy density at a height equaling 30% of the 90th			
	percentile of first-echo points' height distribution.			
p9080f	Proportional canopy density at a height equaling 80% of the 90th			
	percentile of first-echo points' height distribution.			
p9530f	Proportional canopy density at a height equaling 30% of the 95th			
	percentile of first-echo points' height distribution.			
p9580f	Proportional canopy density at a height equaling 80% of the 95th			
	percentile of first-echo points' height distribution.			

Table 2. Predictor variables used in the study I.

3.4 Area-based prediction of peatland forest attributes

The ABA is employed to predict forest inventory attributes using the predictor variables extracted from remote sensing (RS) data (Næsset 2002). It assumes that there is a statistical dependency between forest attributes and RS-derived features. The prediction is based on reference plots, where both forest inventory data and RS data are available. Furthermore, forest inventory data are predicted for grid cells or microsegments by searching the reference plots of the most similar predictor variables and calculating forest attributes based on the nearest neighbors (e.g., Maltamo et al. 2006). Among the alternative metrics to measure the neighborhood between the target inventory units and the reference plots, the random forest technique (RF, Breiman 2001) is a robust and flexible method for the selection of nearest neighbors (Hudak et al. 2008; Latifi and Koch 2012).

When the forest inventory attributes are predicted using the nearest neighbor method, there is typically a large set of candidate predictor variables, although the number of predictors should be significantly reduced to achieve a parsimonious subset of predictors. There should not be strong mutual correlation between any two selected predictors, thus autocorrelating variables need to be filtered out (Hudak et al. 2008; Millard and Richardson 2015). In practice, there are useful open-source tools for predictor variable selection and target variable prediction developed by Crookston and Finley (2008). In estimations, it is recommended that target variables are computed using the forest inventory attributes of the 3–5 nearest reference plots: the greater number of neighbors may improve estimation accuracy, but it decreases the variation associated with the estimated forest attributes (Tuominen et al. 2003).

Peatland forests may be a greater challenge for ABA inventories as the growing stocks are typically grouped, sparse, and uneven in size. Moreover, the ditch network divides the peatland stands into narrow strips such that there are completely different inventory units within forestry-drained peatland stands. In study I, we tested the prediction accuracy of forest inventory attributes in low-productive forestry-drained peatlands using a systematic grid consisting of 16 m \times 16 m pixels as inventory units, which has proved to be a feasible inventory procedure when airborne LiDAR data are available (Tuominen and Haapanen 2011; White et al. 2013).

3.5 Logistic regression of terrain trafficability

Logistic regression is a common method to model the probability of a discrete outcome (Hosmer et al. 2013). In most cases, the outcome is a binary variable, i.e., something either happens or does not. In forest science, logistic regression process has been used, e.g., to model the susceptibility of forest stands to wind or snow damage (Jalkanen and Mattila 2000; Vastaranta et al. 2012; Saarinen et al. 2016). In study **II**, we used logistic regression to predict soil damage probability using DEM-derived features, with soil type and logging type as predictor variables. Another option would have been to model the scalar variable of rut depth using regression analysis as presented by Salmivaara et al. (2020).

In general, the severity of soil damage depends on the machinery used (e.g., tyre type, tyre pressure, chains), traffic load, number of passes on each track, harvesting method, placing of logging residues, and site characteristics (Sirén et al. 2013; 2019). On mineral soils, the bearing capacity increases when soil dry density or particle size increases or if soil

moisture decreases (Saarilahti 2002). Also, soil stoniness and roots in the forest floor significantly increase the bearing capacity of mineral soils (Sirén et al. 2013; Rubio 2015). On peatland soils, peat shear modulus, which is a measure of soil stiffness (Ala-Ilomäki 2013) has been shown to explain terrain trafficability in combination with soil moisture and tree volume (Uusitalo et al. 2015).

As topography is the main factor that drives the spatial variation in soil moisture and its derivative variables, LiDAR-derived DEMs and flow analyses have great potential to predict the risk of severe soil damage. The review by Hoffmann et al. (2022) showed that TWI and DTW indices are widely used to produce terrain trafficability maps in several Northern and Central European countries. Currently, the development is moving towards dynamic terrain trafficability predictions where daily weather data is used to model up-to-date soil moisture conditions (Salmivaara et al. 2020). In addition, Controlled Area Network (CAN)-bus data, which measures the rolling resistance of forest machines, may be used as teaching data to predict terrain trafficability (Ala-Ilomäki et al. 2020).

4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

4.1 Planning the management of low-productive forestry-drained peatlands

In Finland, drainage of peatlands to increase tree growth was very intensive in the 1960s– 70s, although the subsequent deterioration of the ditches has decreased their drying impact (Paavilainen and Päivänen 1995). Water management is essential in peatland forestry as the level of groundwater table significantly affects the growth of peatland forests and is a precondition for profitable forestry (Sarkkola et al. 2012). On fertile peatland sites, tree transpiration alone is sufficient to maintain a water table, but in infertile areas the water table rises when the ditch network deteriorates (Sarkkola et al. 2013). The simulations presented in Hökkä et al. (2017) have shown that the financial benefits of DNM are minimal on the poorest peatland sites, but negative environmental effects may be considerable. Thus, it is questionable how-to re-use LPDP when profitable timber production is not possible (Tolvanen et al. 2018).

In study **I**, we tested area-based forest inventories in LPDP. We suggested that allocating approximately 30 additional reference plots in LPDP, compared to field sample focused on productive forests, improved the prediction accuracy and reduced bias of forest inventory attributes in LPDP. Nevertheless, the influence of the considerably higher proportion of productive forest plots can be seen from the results and the representativeness of the field sample should be further analyzed considering possible design bias in its allocation. However, the reference data must cover the full range of vegetation variability, and study **I** proposes one way that may be refined for different areas. Furthermore, Laiho et al. (2016) provided the volume threshold required to classify peatlands as either productive or low-productive stands.

The LDPD are potential areas for restoration because their economic value is low, and they can offer important habitats, e.g., for grouse (Miettinen 2009). In peatland restoration, the objective is to return the natural hydrological functioning as much as possible (Similä et al. 2014). In study **III**, I studied methods to model water flow networks and flow accumulation within a peatland-dominated catchment. Korpela et al. (2009) concluded a high vertical accuracy for different peatland surfaces based on essentially similar workflow and

data for ground classification and DEM at 1 m resolution. The results of study **III** can therefore be probably safely generalized to mineral and peatland soils similarly homogeneous for their microtopography. New tools to process hydrologically conditioned DEM and calculate water movements may enhance the planning of peatland restoration. Also, it is worth noting that peatland restoration may temporarily increase nutrient and sediment loading in aquatic ecosystems, although rewetting over the longer term is expected to prevent declines in water quality (Martin-Ortega et al. 2014; Shah and Nisbet 2019). In any case, the results reported in study **IV** can be applied when water quality is a consideration in peatland restoration projects.

4.2 Mapping within-stand soil wetness variation

Peatlands and fine-grained mineral soils are vulnerable to rutting and compaction during heavy off-road traffic. In study **II**, we tested the possibilities of using airborne LiDAR-derived DEM for mapping within-stand terrain trafficability variation, which is strongly dependent on soil wetness. In general, modeling water movements at the landscape-level is essential to identify wet forest soils. Furthermore, the impact of soil wetness on terrain trafficability strongly depends on soil type (Elbanna and Whitney 1987). All these responses must be considered when developing dynamic terrain trafficability maps (Salmivaara et al. 2020), which is a notable future research direction.

The novel finding of study **II** was the calculation of local binary patterns (LBP, Ojala et al. 2002) of DEM, and the application of the LBP-derived predictor variables to terrain trafficability predictions. Originally, a single LBP consisted of eight binary values computed from the circular neighborhood of the pixel of interest, and this approach has been used, e.g., for face recognition of image processing (Chan et al. 2007). The premise of using LBP-features in terrain trafficability predictions was to model the small-scale terrain variations that may explain the within-stand variation in soil damage, i.e., local sinks and peaks in the landscape can be automatically determined this way (Fig. 2). A similar approach for landform classification was presented in Jasiewicz and Stepinski (2013) and clearly illustrates the scale dependency of these patterns.

Study **II** was targeted at mineral soils, although the results can also benefit peatland forestry because forwarding routes (i.e. trails used for timber transport) typically lead from peatlands to forest roads via mineral soils. On mineral soils, route selection may affect the level of soil damage (Suvinen 2006). In previous studies, the TWI and DTW indices have been shown to be useful in terrain analyses (Murphy et al. 2009; 2011; Pei et al. 2010; Campbell et al. 2013; Ågren et al. 2014), and so it was assumed that both wetness indices would prove useful in study **II** too. Overall, a prediction accuracy of 85% was achieved in modeling soil vulnerability to rutting in study **II**. More recently, the DTW index in particular has been widely applied in terrain trafficability predictions (Hoffmann 2022), and Schönauer et al. (2021) have presented promising results of spatio-temporal soil moisture and soil strength predictions using this index. All the earlier studies could be improved using the findings of study **III**, as the overland flow routing and the derivative wetness indices were better modeled using the high-resolution LiDAR data.



Figure 2. Illustration of the local binary pattern (LBP)-derived moisture index in the Parkano study area. The binary patterns were calculated using a radius of 20 m. The highest index values represent local depressions or valleys, and the lowest index values represent local uplands. A detailed description of this feature and speculations about the search radius are presented in study **II**. Copyright of the background map: National Land Survey of Finland, 2022.



Figure 3. Example map of suggested overland flow fields and uncleaned ditch sections in North Ostrobothnia, Finland. The color ramp of uncleaned ditch sections represents the upslope flow accumulation area (in hectares). Copyright of the background map: National Land Survey of Finland, 2022.

4.3 Placing water protection structures within the landscape

Peatland forests are hotspots of sediment and nutrient loading (Finér et al. 2021), thus water protection must be carefully considered in DNM and restoration operations. In study **IV**, we developed spatial analyses to identify suitable locations for water protection structures within the forested catchment. In Finland, maps of wetness indices, flow accumulation, erosion risks etc. are freely available for forest managers planning operations on peatland sites, although the use of these maps and the success of water protection plans is highly dependent on the competence of the forest managers. To the best of our knowledge, our idea to automatically suggest locations for overland flow fields and uncleaned ditch sections is unique. The spatial analyses were developed in the study area of Parkano, but reasonable suggestions were later processed for the Tilanjoki catchment ($64^{\circ}58'N$, $27^{\circ}15'E$) in North Ostrobothnia as well, using the same workflows presented in study **IV** (Fig. 3).

Study **III** was necessary prior to study **IV** as reliable modelling of overland flow routes was needed for further development of the algorithms employed to suggest water protection structures. Moreover, prior to study **III**, there was a lack of knowledge as to how high-density airborne LiDAR affects hydrological simulations. The main aim of study **III** was to determine good practices to process hydrologically conditioned DEM for overland flow routing and other hydrological purposes. In total, 85% of real flow channels were found when overland flow directions were automatically modelled from high-density airborne LiDAR data using IDW or kriging interpolation. Earlier knowledge supports my observations from study **III** that (a) kriging should be the preferred alternative in DEM interpolation (Heritage et al. 2009; Guo et al. 2010; Arun 2013; Chu et al. 2014), and (b) the breaching algorithm worked well in DEM conditioning (Woodrow et al. 2016; Lidberg et al. 2017).

Study **IV** proved that it is possible to develop an algorithm that automatically suggests water protection structures in a landscape. However, the pilot study was confined to the small catchment of Lake Kovesjärvi and we have no knowledge as to how these models would function in a different topography. Regardless, based on the field observations with peatland management experts and researchers, the results were promising but more testing and some developments are still needed, as explained in study **IV**. Of note, the idea of using median filtering (Huang et al. 1979) in DEM pre-processing worked well for this purpose, as the filtering made it possible to analyze the terrain topography at a larger scale while removing small-range characteristics from the DEM. In general, airborne LiDAR offers good and uniform quality data for analyzing terrain properties and for the development of new solutions that may be useful in forestry or other land uses.

5. CONCLUSIONS

This thesis covers a wide range of topics that are key questions in peatland forestry: production of information for forest inventories, peatland restoration, soil bearing capacity, ditch network maintenance, and water protection. However, continuous cover forestry and carbon sequestration are not defined in this study. Information of forest inventory attributes is needed for decision making, e.g., timing of harvesting operations and/or classifying peatland soils as either productive or non-productive stands from economic perspective. While numerous papers have focused on methods to develop airborne LiDAR based forest inventories, study **I** was justified as it targeted low-productive forestry-drained peatlands,

which have considerable potential from a peatland restoration viewpoint. In retrospect, more general conclusions could have been made by analyzing the possible design bias of the field sample emphasized on productive forests. Adding a broader set of textural, full-waveform, and/or radiometric features, also those related to terrain and not only canopy surface, may further have improved forest inventory attribute prediction in low-productive peatland forests.

Study **II** focused on the question of terrain trafficability (i.e., soil load-bearing capacity), which will be one of the key challenges for the Finnish forest sector in the decades ahead as the average soil frost season shortens (climatic changes), and an increasing amount of timber supply will come from peatland forests. Study **II** was especially justified due to the novel idea of applying DEM-derived local binary patterns (that included additional information) to the conventionally used wetness indices in soil damage probability predictions. Overall, study **II** proved that within stand variation in soil load-bearing capacity can be predicted and mapped using LiDAR-derived DEM for mineral soils. The models are also applicable to forwarding from peatlands via mineral soils, but terrain trafficability should be further quantified on actual peatland surfaces.

The two first studies in this dissertation applied low-density airborne LiDAR data (i.e., pulse density of 0.5 m⁻²), although high-density LiDAR data of 5 pulses per m² were available for the two later studies. Study **III** was justified as knowledge as to how LiDAR point density affects the hydrological derivatives of DEM was lacking. Study **III** presents good practice guidance for the processing of hydrologically conditioned DEM from the airborne LiDAR inventory 3D point cloud. Thus, the results can assist in environmental models where soil moisture is a consideration. Nevertheless, as overland flow routing does not necessarily follow the same pattern in both mineral and peatland soils, the treatment of hydraulic conductivity in DEMs for peatland soils should be studied more thoroughly in the future.

Water quality must be considered in peatland forestry. There is evidence that peatland forestry has caused eutrophication, turbidity, and brownification of water bodies, thus sediment and nutrient loading must be controlled. Downstream waters can be protected, e.g., by leaving uncleaned ditch sections wherever possible, or by placing water protection structures between the ditched area and the clean waterways. Study **IV** presented a novel way to automatically suggest water protection structures in a forested landscape. The weakness of study **IV** is the lack of quantitative evaluation, which would probably require developing new methodology to assess tradeoffs of the proposals from various economic, ecological, and e.g. hydrological aspects affecting sustainable peatland forest management.

REFERENCES

Ågren AM, Lidberg W, Strömgren M, Ogilvie J, Arp PA (2014) Evaluating digital terrain indices for soil wetness mapping – a Swedish case study. Hydrol Earth Syst Sci 18: 3623–3634. https://doi.org/10.5194/hess-18-3623-2014

Ågren AM, Larson J, Paul SS, Laudon H, Lidberg W (2021) Use of multiple LIDAR-derived digital terrain indices and machine learning for high-resolution national-scale soil moisture mapping of the Swedish forest landscape. Geoderma 404, 115280. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2021.115280

Aaltonen VT, Aarnio B, Hyyppä E, Kaitera P, Keso L, Kivinen E, Kokkonen P, Kotilainen M, Sauramo M, Tuovila P, Vuorinen J (1949) Maaperäsanaston ja maalajien luokituksen tarkastus v. 1949 [A critical review of soil terminology and soil classification in Finland in the year 1949]. Maataloustiet Aikak 21: 37–66.

Admiral SW, Lafleur PM, Roulet NT (2006) Controls on latent heat flux and energy partitioning at a peat bog in eastern Canada. Agric For Meteorol 140 (1–4): 308–321. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agrformet.2006.03.017

Ahtikoski A, Hökkä H (2019) Intensive forest management — does it pay off financially on drained peatlands? Can J For Res 49(9): 1101–1113. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjfr-2019-0007

Ahtikoski A, Salminen H, Hökkä H, Kojola S, Penttilä T (2012) Optimising stand manangement on peatlands: the case of northern Finland. Can J For Res 42(2): 247–259. https://doi.org/10.1139/x11-174

Alajoki H, Bilaletdin Ä, Honkanen S, Isid D, Kara P, Kerkkä V, Lindqvist P, Liukkonen H, Mäkynen A, Niemelä M, Nenonen N, Pelkonen P, Peltonen A, Syvälä R, Taskinen S, Vainonen A (2022) Pirkanmaan vesienhoidon toimenpideohjelma vuosille 2022–2027. [Water management plan of Pirkanmaa region 2022–2027]. Pirkanmaan elinkeino-, liikenne-ja ympäristökeskus, raportteja 12/2022, 251 p. ISSN 2242-2854.

Ala-Ilomäki J (2013) Spiked shear vane – a new tool for measuring peatland top layer strength. Suo - Mires and Peat 64(2-3): 113–118.

Ala-Ilomäki J, Salmivaara A, Launiainen S, Lindeman H, Kulju S, Finér L, Heikkonen J, Uusitalo J (2020) Assessing extraction trail trafficability using harvester CAN-bus data, Int J For Eng 31(2): 138–145. https://doi.org/10.1080/14942119.2020.1748958

Ariza-Villaverde AB, Jiménez-Hornero FJ, Gutiérrez de Ravé E (2015) Influence of DEM resolution on drainage network extraction: A multifractal analysis. Geomorphology 241: 243–254. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geomorph.2015.03.040

Arun PV (2013) A comparative analysis of different DEM interpolation methods. Egypt J Rem Sens 16(2): 133–139. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejrs.2013.09.001

Ayrey E, Hayes DJ (2018) The use of three-dimensional convolutional neural networks to interpret LiDAR for forest inventory. Remote Sens 10(4), 649. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs10040649

Breiman L (2001) Random forests. Machine Learning 45(1): 5–32. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1010933404324

Brosofske KD, Froese RE, Falkowski MJ, Banskota A (2014) A review of methods for mapping and prediction of inventory attributes for operational forest management. For Sci 60(4): 733–756. https://doi.org/10.5849/forsci.12-134

Brönmark C, Hansson LA (2002) Environmental issues in lakes and ponds: current state and
perspectives.EnvironConserv29(3):290–307.https://doi.org/10.1017/S0376892902000218

Cambi M, Certini G, Neri F, Marchi E (2015) The impact of heavy traffic on forest soils: a review. For Ecol Manag 338: 124–138. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2014.11.022

Campbell DMH, White B, Arp PAA (2013) Modeling and mapping soil resistance to penetration and rutting using LiDAR-derived digital elevation data. J Soil Water Conserv 68: 460–473. https://doi.org/10.2489/jswc.68.6.460

Chan C-H, Kittler J, Messer K (2007). Multi-scale local binary pattern histograms for face recognition. In: Lee SW, Li SZ (eds) Advances in Biometrics. ICB 2007. Lecture Notes in Computer Science, vol 4642. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 809–818. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-540-74549-5_85

Chu H-J, Wang C-K, Huang M-L, Lee C-C, Liu CY, Lin C-C (2014) Effect of point density and interpolation of LiDAR-derived high-resolution DEMs on landscape scarp identification. Gisci Remote Sens 51(6): 731–747. https://doi.org/10.1080/15481603.2014.980086

Crookston NL, Finley AO (2008) yaImpute: an R package for kNN imputation. J Stat Softw 23(10): 1–16. https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v023.i10

Elbanna EB, Witney BD (1987) Cone penetration resistance equation as a function of the clay ratio, soil moisture content and specific weight. J Terramech 24: 41–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-4898(87)90058-9

Eliasson L, Wästerlund I (2007) Effects of slash reinforcement of strip roads on rutting and soil compaction on a moist fine-grained soil. For Ecol Manag. 252: 118–123. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2007.06.037

Finér L, Čiuldienė D, Lībieté Z, Lode E, Nieminen M, Pierzgalski E, Ring E, Strand L, Sikström U (2018) WAMBAF – Good Practices for Ditch Network Maintenance to Protect Water Quality in the Baltic Sea Region. Natural resources and bioeconomy studies 25/2018. Natural Resources Institute Finland, Helsinki. 35 p. http://urn.fi/URN:ISBN:978-952-326-576-9

Finér L., Lepistö A, Karlsson K, Räike A, Härkönen L, Huttunen M, Joensuu S, Kortelainen P, Mattsson T, Piirainen S, Sallantaus T, Sarkkola S, Tattari S, Ukonmaanaho L (2021) Drainage for forestry increases N, P and TOC export to boreal surface waters. Sci Total Environ 762, 144098. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.144098

Frizzle C, Fournier RA, Trudel M, Luther JE (2021) Using the Soil and Water Assessment Tool to develop a LiDAR-based index of the erosion regulation ecosystem service. J Hydrol 595, 126009. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2021.126009

Guo Q, Li W, Yu H, Alvarez O (2010) Effects of Topographic Variability and Lidar Sampling Density on Several DEM Interpolation Methods. Photogramm Eng Rem S 6: 701–712. https://doi.org/10.14358/PERS.76.6.701

Guth PL, Van Niekerk A, Grohmann CH, Muller J-P, Hawker L, Florinsky IV, Gesch D, Reuter HI, Herrera-Cruz V, Riazanoff S, López-Vázquez C, Carabajal CC, Albinet C, Strobl P (2021) Digital elevation models: Terminology and definitions. Remote Sens 13(18), 3581. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs13183581

Haahti K, Nieminen M, Finér L, Marttila H, Kokkonen T, Leinonen A, Koivusalo H (2018) Model-based evaluation of sediment control in a drained peatland forest after ditch network maintenance. Can J For Res 48(2): 130-140. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjfr-2017-0269

Haavisto M (1983) Maaperäkartan käyttöopas [Basic mapping of quaternary deposits in Finland]. Geological Survey of Finland, Guide 10, 80 p. ISBN 951-690-170-0.

Hall JP (2001) Criteria and indicators of sustainable forest management. Environ Monit Assess 67: 109–119. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1006433132539

Hamedianfar A, Mohamedou C, Kangas A, Vauhkonen J (2022) Deep learning for forest inventory and planning: a critical review on the remote sensing approaches so far and prospects for further applications. Forestry, cpac002. https://doi.org/10.1093/forestry/cpac002

Hartmann M, Niklaus PA, Zimmermann S, Schmutz S, Kremer J, Abarenkov K, Lüscher P, Widmer F, Frey B (2014) Resistance and resilience of the forest soil microbiome to logging-associated compaction. ISME J. 8: 226–244. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2013.141

Heikurainen L (1980) Drainage conditions and tree stand on peatlands drained 20 years previously. Acta Forestalia Fennica 167. https://doi.org/10.14214/aff.7614

Heritage GL, Milan DJ, Large ARG, Fuller IC (2009) Influence of survey strategy and interpolation model on DEM quality. Geomorphology 112(3-4): 334–344. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geomorph.2009.06.024

Hodgson ME, Bresnahan P (2004). Accuracy of airborne LIDAR-derived elevation. Photogramm Eng Rem Sens 70: 331–339. https://doi.org/10.14358/PERS.70.3.331

Hoek G, Beelen R, de Hoogh K, Vienneau D, Gulliver J, Fischer P, Briggs D (2008) A review of land-use regression models to assess spatial variation of outdoor air pollution. Atmos Environ 42(33): 7561–7578. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2008.05.057

Hoffmann S, Schönauer M, Heppelmann J, Asikainen A, Cacot E, Eberhard B, Hasenauer H, Ivanovs J, Jaeger D, Lazdins A, Mohtashami S, Moskalik T, Nordfjell T, Sterenczak K, Talbot B, Uusitalo J, Vuillermoz M, Astrup R (2022) Trafficability prediction using depth-to-water maps: the status of application in Northern and Central European forestry. Curr Forestry Rep 8: 55–71. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40725-021-00153-8

Hohenthal J, Alho P, Hyyppä J, Hyyppä H (2011) Laser scanning applications in fluvial studies. Prog Phys Geogr 35: 782–809. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F0309133311414605

Holmgren P (1994) Multiple flow direction algorithms for runoff modelling in grid based elevation models: An empirical evaluation. Hydrol Process 8: 327–334. https://doi.org/10.1002/hyp.3360080405

Holopainen M, Vastaranta M, Hyyppä J (2014) Outlook for the next generation's precision forestry in Finland. Forests 5(7): 1682–1694. https://doi.org/10.3390/f5071682

Holopainen S, Lehikoinen A (2022) Role of forest ditching and agriculture on water quality: Connecting the long-term physico-chemical subsurface state of lakes with landscape and habitat structure information. Sci Total Environ 806(4), 151477. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.151477

Hosmer Jr DW, Lemeshow S, Sturdivant RX (2013) Applied logistic regression. New Jersey: John Wiley & Sons. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118548387

Huang T, Yang G, Tang G (1979) A fast two-dimensional median filtering algorithm. IEEETransSignalProcess27(1):13–18.https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1109/TASSP.1979.1163188

Hudak AT, Crookston NL, Evans JS, Hall DE, Falkowski MJ (2008) Nearest neighbor imputation of species-level, plot-scale forest structure attributes from LiDAR data. Remote Sens Environ 112(5): 2232–2245. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2007.10.009

Hyyppä J, Hyyppä H, Leckie D, Gougeon F, Yu X, Maltamo M (2008) Review of methods of small-footprint airborne laser scanning for extracting forest inventory data in boreal forests. Int J Remote Sens 29(5): 1339–1366. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/01431160701736489

Hökkä H, Salminen H, Ahtikoski A, Kojola S, Launiainen S, Lehtonen M (2017) Long-term impact of ditch network maintenance on timber production, profitability and environmental loads at regional level in Finland: a simulation study. Forestry 90(2): 234–246. https://doi.org/10.1093/forestry/cpw045

Hökkä H, Laurén A, Stenberg L, Launiainen S, Leppä K, Nieminen M (2021) Defining guidelines for ditch depth in drained Scots pine dominated peatland forests. Silva Fenn 55(3), article id 10494. https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.10494

International Society for Terrain-Vehicle Systems Standardization Committee (1997) International society for terrain-vehicle systems standards. J Terramech 14(3): 153–182. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-4898(77)90013-1

Iwahashi J, Pike RJ (2007) Automated classifications of topography from DEMs by an unsupervised nested-means algorithm and a three-part geometric signature. Geomorphology, 86(3–4): 409–440. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geomorph.2006.09.012

Jakubowski MK, Guo Q, Kelly M (2013) Tradeoffs between lidar pulse density and forest measurement accuracy. Remote Sens Environ 130: 245–253. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2012.11.024

Jalkanen A, Mattila U (2000) Logistic regression models for wind and snow damage in northern Finland based on the National Forest Inventory data. For Ecol Manag 135(1–3): 315–330. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-1127(00)00289-9

Jasiewicz J, Stepinski TF (2013) Geomorphons – a pattern recognition approach to classification and mapping of landforms. Geomorphology 182: 147–156. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geomorph.2012.11.005

Jenson SK, Domingue JO (1988) Extracting Topographic Structure from Digital Elevation Data for Geographic Information System Analysis. Photogramm Eng Rem S 54(11): 1593–1600.

Joensuu S (2002) Effects of ditch network maintenance and sedimentation ponds on export loads of suspended solids and nutrients from peatland forests. Metsäntutkimuslaitoksen tiedonantoja 868. 83 p. http://urn.fi/URN:ISBN:951-40-1852-4

Juutinen A, Shanin V, Ahtikoski A, Rämö J, Mäkipää R, Laiho R, Sarkkola S, Laurén A, Penttilä T, Hökkä H, Saarinen M (2021) Profitability of continuous-cover forestry in Norway spruce dominated peatland forest and the role of water table. Can J For Res 51(6): 859–870. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjfr-2020-0305

Kanostrevac D, Borisov M, Bugarinovic Z, Ristic A, Radulovic A (2019) Data quality comparative analysis of photogrammetric and Lidar DEM. Micro Macro Mezzo Geo Inf 12: 17–34.

S, Maajärvi M, Strandman H, Kilpeläinen A, Peltola H (2010) Model Kellomäki computations on the climate change effects on snow cover, soil moisture and soil frost in the boreal conditions over Finland. Silva Fenn 44(2), article id 455. https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.455

Kojola S, Ahtikoski A, Hökkä H, Penttilä T (2012) Profitability of alternative management regimes in Scots pine stands on drained peatlands. Eur J Forest Res 131: 413–426. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10342-011-0514-4

Korhonen KT, Ahola A, Heikkinen J, Henttonen HM, Hotanen J-P, Ihalainen A, Melin M, Pitkänen J, Räty M, Sirviö M, Strandström M (2021) Forests of Finland 2014–2018 and their development 1921–2018. Silva Fenn 55(5), article id 10662. https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.10662

Korpela I, Koskinen M, Vasander H, Holopainen M, Minkkinen K (2009) Airborne smallfootprint discrete-return LiDAR data in the assessment of boreal mire surface patterns, vegetation, and habitats. For Ecol Manag 258(7): 1549–1566. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2009.07.007 Kraus K, Pfeifer N (1998) Determination of terrain models in wooded areas with airborne laser scanner data. ISPRS J Photogramm 53(4): 193–203. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0924-2716(98)00009-4

Laiho R, Tuominen S, Kojola S, Penttilä T, Saarinen M, Ihalainen (2016) Heikkotuottoiset ojitetut suometsät – missä ja paljonko niitä on? [Low-productive drained peatland forests – where and how much there are?] Metsätieteen aikakauskirja 2/2016: 73–93. http://urn.fi/URN:NBN:fi-fe2016102125459

Latifi H, Koch B (2012) Evaluation of most similar neighbour and random forest methods for imputing forest inventory variables using data from target and auxiliary stands. Int J Remote Sens 33(21): 6668–6694. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/01431161.2012.6 93969

Launiainen S, Guan M, Salmivaara A, Kieloaho A-J (2019) Modeling boreal forest evapotranspiration and water balance at stand and catchment scales: a spatial approach. Hydrol Earth Syst Sci 23: 3457–3480. https://doi.org/10.5194/hess-23-3457-2019

Laurén A, Palviainen M, Launiainen S, Leppä K, Stenberg L, Urzainki I, Nieminen M, Laiho R, Hökkä H (2021) Drainage and stand growth response in peatland forests – description, testing, and application of mechanistic peatland simulator SUSI. Forests 12(3), 293. https://doi.org/10.3390/f12030293

Lepilin D, Laurén A, Uusitalo J, Fritze H, Laiho R, Kimura B, Tuittila E-S (2022) Response of vegetation and soil biological properties to soil deformation in logging trails of drained boreal peatland forests. Can J For Res 52(4): 511–526. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjfr-2021-0176

Lidberg W, Nilsson M, Lundmark T, Ågren AM (2017) Evaluating preprocessing methods of digital elevation models for hydrological modelling. Hydrol Process 31:4660–4668. https://doi.org/10.1002/hyp.11385

Lidberg W, Nilsson M, Ågren A (2020) Using machine learning to generate high-resolution wet area maps for planning forest management: A study in a boreal forest landscape. Ambio 49: 475–486. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-019-01196-9

Lindsay JB, Creed IF (2005) Removal of artifact depressions from digital elevation models: towards a minimum impact approach. Hydrol Process 19: 3113–3126. https://doi.org/10.1002/hyp.5835

Lindsay JB, Dhun K (2015) Modelling surface drainage patterns in altered landscapes using LiDAR. Int J Geogr Inf Sci 29: 397–411. https://doi.org/10.1080/13658816.2014.975715

Lindsay JB, Francioni A, Cockburn JMH (2019) LiDAR DEM smoothing and the preservation of drainage features. Remote Sens 11(16), 1926. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs11161926

López-Vicente M, Pérez-Bielsa C, López-Montero T, Lambán LJ, Navas A (2014) Runoff simulation with eight different flow accumulation algorithms: Recommendations using a spatially distributed and open-source model. Environ Model Softw 62: 11–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsoft.2014.08.025

Maltamo M, Packalen P (2014) Species-specific management inventory in Finland. In: Maltamo M, Næsset E, Vauhkonen J (eds) Forestry Applications of Airborne Laser Scanning. Managing Forest Ecosystems 27. Springer, Netherlands, pp 241–252. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-017-8663-8_12

Maltamo M, Malinen J, Packalén P, Suvanto A, Kangas J (2006) Nonparametric estimation of stem volume using airborne laser scanning, aerial photography, and stand-register data. Can J For Res 36: 426–436. http://dx.doi.org/10.1139/X05-246

Maltamo M, Bollandsås OM, Næsset E, Gobakken T, Packalén P (2011) Different plot selection strategies for field training data in ALS-assisted forest inventory. Forestry 84(1): 23–31. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/forestry/cpq039

Maltamo M, Naesset E, Vauhkonen J (2014) Forestry Applications of Airborne Laser Scanning. Managing Forest Ecosystems 27. Springer, Netherlands. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-017-8663-8

Martin-Ortega J, Allott TEH, Glenk K, Schaafsma M (2014) Valuing water quality improvements from peatland restoration: Evidence and challenges. Ecosyst Serv, 9: 34–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoser.2014.06.007

Marttila H, Kløve B (2010) Managing runoff, water quality and erosion in peatland forestry by peak runoff control. Ecol Eng 36(7): 900-911. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoleng.2010.04.002

Marttila H, Lepistö A, Tolvanen A, Bechmann M, Kyllmar K, Juutinen A, Wenng H, Skarbøvik E, Futter M, Kortelainen P, Rankinen K, Hellsten S, Kløve B, Kronvang B, Kaste Ø, Solheim AL, Bhattacharjee J, Rakovic J, de Wit H (2020) Potential impacts of a future Nordic bioeconomy on surface water quality. Ambio 49: 1722–1735. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-020-01355-3

Martz LW, Garbrecht J (1998) The treatment of flat areas and depressions in automated drainage analysis of raster digital elevation models. Hydrol Process 12: 843–855. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1099-1085(199805)12:6%3C843::AID-HYP658%3E3.0.CO;2-R

Martz LW, Garbrecht J (1999) An outlet breaching algorithm for the treatment of closed depressions in a raster DEM. Comput Geosci 25: 835–844. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0098-3004(99)00018-7

Melander L (2021) Towards Precision Forestry: Methods for Environmental Perception and Data Fusion in Forest Operations. Tampere University Dissertations 379. http://urn.fi/URN:ISBN:978-952-03-1863-5 Michałowska M, Rapinski J (2021) A review of tree species classification based on airborne LiDAR data and applied classifiers. Remote Sens 13(3): 353. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs13030353

Miettinen J (2009) Capercaillie (*Tetrao urogallus* L.) habitats in managed Finnish forests – the current status, threats and possibilities. Dissertationes Forestales 90. https://doi.org/10.14214/df.90

Miettinen J, Ollikainen M, Nieminen M, Valsta L (2020) Cost function approach to water protection in forestry. Water Recour Econ 31, 100150. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wre.2019.100150

Miina J (1996) Optimizing thinning and rotation in a stand of *Pinus Sylvestris* on a drained peatland site. Scand J For Res 11(1–4): 182–192. https://doi.org/10.1080/02827589609382927

Millard K, Richardson M (2015) On the importance of training data sample selection in Random Forest image classification: a case study in peatland ecosystem mapping. Remote Sens 7(7): 8489–8515. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs70708489

Mohamedou C, Tokola T, Eerikäinen K (2017) LiDAR-based TWI and terrain attributes in improving parametric predictor for tree growth in southeast Finland. Int J Appl Earth Obs 62: 183–191. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jag.2017.06.004

Mohtashami S, Eliasson L, Jansson G, Sonesson J (2017) Influence of soil type, cartographic depth-to-water, road reinforcement and traffic intensity on rut formation in logging operations: a survey study in Sweden. Silva Fenn 51(5), article id 2018. https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.2018

Muhadi NA, Abdullah AF, Bejo SK, Mahadi MR, Mijic A (2020) The Use of LiDAR-Derived DEM in Flood Applications: A Review. Remote Sens 12(14), article id 2308. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs12142308

Murphy PNC, Ogilvie J, Connor K, Arp PA (2007) Mapping wetlands: A comparison of two different approaches for New Brunswick, Canada. Wetlands 27(4): 846–854. https://doi.org/10.1672/0277-5212(2007)27[846:MWACOT]2.0.CO;2

Murphy PNC, Ogilvie J, Meng F-R, Arp P (2008) Stream network modelling using lidar and photogrammetric digital elevation models: a comparison and field verification. Hydrol Process 22: 1747–1754. https://doi.org/10.1002/hyp.6770

Murphy PNC, Ogilvie J, Arp P (2009) Topographic modelling of soil moisture conditions: a comparison and verification of two models. Eur J Soil Sci 60: 94–109. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2389.2008.01094.x Murphy PNC, Ogilvie J, Meng F-R, White B, Bhatti JS, Arp PA (2011) Modelling and mapping topographic variations in forest soils at high resolution: a case study. Ecol Model 222: 2314–2332. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2011.01.003

Næsset E (2002) Predicting forest stand characteristics with airborne scanning laser using a practical two-stage procedure and field data. Remote Sens Environ 80(1): 88–99. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0034-4257(01)00290-5

National Land Survey of Finland (NLS) (2022a) Laser scanning data 5 p. https://www.maanmittauslaitos.fi/en/maps-and-spatial-data/expert-users/product-descriptions/laser-scanning-data-5-p. Accessed 9 June 2022

National Land Survey of Finland (NLS) (2022b) Topographic Database. https://www.maanmittauslaitos.fi/en/maps-and-spatial-data/expert-users/product-descriptions/topographic-database. Accessed 9 June 2022

Niemi MT, Vauhkonen J (2016) Extracting canopy surface texture from airborne laser scanning data for the supervised and unsupervised prediction of area-based forest characteristics. Remote Sens 8(7), 582. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs8070582

Nieminen M, Hökkä H, Laiho R, Juutinen A, Ahtikoski A, Pearson M, Kojola S, Sarkkola S, Launiainen S, Valkonen S, Penttilä T, Lohila A, Saarinen M, Haahti K, Mäkipää R, Miettinen J, Ollikainen M (2018a) Could continuous cover forestry be an economically and environmentally feasible management option on drained boreal peatlands? For Ecol Manag 424: 78–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2018.04.046

Nieminen M, Piirainen S, Sikström U, Löfgren S, Marttila H, Sarkkola S, Laurén A, Finér L (2018b) Ditch network maintenance in peat-dominated boreal forests: Review and analysis of water quality management options. Ambio 47(5): 535–545. https://dx.doi.org/10.1007%2Fs13280-018-1047-6

Nieminen M, Sarkkola S, Hellsten S, Marttila H., Piirainen S, Sallantaus T, Lepistö A (2018c) Increasing and decreasing nitrogen and phosphorus trends in runoff from drained peatland forests – Is there a legacy effect of drainage or not? Water Air Soil Poll 229, 286. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11270-018-3945-4

Nugent C, Kanali C, Owende PMO, Nieuwenhuis M, Ward S (2003) Characteristic site disturbance due to harvesting and extraction machinery traffic on sensitive forest sites with peat soils. For Ecol Manag 180(1–3): 85–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-1127(02)00628-X

O'Callaghan JF, Mark DM (1984) The extraction of drainage networks from digital elevation data. Comput Vision Graph 28(3): 323–344. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0734-189X(84)80011-0

Ojala T, Pietikäinen M, Mäenpää T (2002) Multiresolution gray-scale and rotation invariant texture classification with local binary patterns. IEEE Trans Pattern Anal Mach Intell 24: 971–987. https://doi.org/10.1109/TPAMI.2002.1017623

Ojanen P, Minkkinen K, Penttilä T (2013). The current greenhouse gas impact of forestrydrained boreal peatlands. For Ecol Manag 289: 201–208. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2012.10.008

Paavilainen E, Päivänen J (1995) Peatland forestry: Ecology and principles. Ecological Studies, vol 111. Springer Science & Business Media. ISBN 3-540-58252-5.

Pei T, Qin C-Z, Zhu A-X, Yang L, Luo M, Li B, Zhou C (2010). Mapping soil organic matter using the topographic wetness index: A comparative study based on different flow-direction algorithm and kriging methods. Ecol Indic 10(3): 610–619. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2009.10.005

Persson M, Trubins R, Eriksson LO, Bergh J, Sonesson J, Holmström E (2022) Precision thinning – a comparison of optimal stand-level and pixel-level thinning. Scand J For Res 37(2): 99–108. https://doi.org/10.1080/02827581.2022.2044902

Poso S (1972) A method of combining photo and field samples in forest inventory. Communicationes Instituti Forestalis Fenniae 76(1). 133 p. http://urn.fi/URN:NBN:fi-metla-201207171108

Quinn P, Beven K, Chevallier P, Planchon 0 (1991) The prediction of hillslope flow paths for distributed hydrological modelling using digital terrain models. Hydrol Process 5: 59–79. https://doi.org/10.1002/hyp.3360050106

Rubio BP (2015) The bearing capacity of Nordic soil. Master of Science Thesis. KTH Industrial Engineering and Management, Machine Design, Stockholm. 71 p.

Ruotsalainen R, Pukkala T, Kangas A, Vauhkonen J, Tuominen S, Packalen P (2019) The effects of sample plot selection strategy and the number of sample plots on inoptimality losses in forest management planning based on airborne laser scanning data. Can J For Res 49(9): 1135–1146. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjfr-2018-0345

Saarilahti M (2002) Soil interaction model. University of Helsinki. Department of Forest Resource Management. https://helda.helsinki.fi/bitstream/handle/1975/8026/SOILMODE.pdf?sequence=3. Accessed 9 June 2022

Saarinen N, Vastaranta M, Honkavaara E, Wulder MA, White JC, Litkey P, Holopainen M, Hyyppä J (2016) Using multi-source data to map and model the predisposition of forests to wind disturbance. Scand J For Res 31(1): 66–79. https://doi.org/10.1080/02827581.2015.1056751

Salmivaara A, Launiainen S, Perttunen J, Nevalainen P, Pohjankukka J, Ala-Ilomäki J, Sirén M, Laurén A, Tuominen S, Uusitalo J, Pahikkala T, Heikkonen J, Finér L (2020) Towards dynamic forest trafficability prediction using open spatial data, hydrological modelling and sensor technology. Forestry 93(5): 662–674. https://doi.org/10.1093/forestry/cpaa010

Sarkkola S, Hökkä H, Ahti E, Koivusalo H, Nieminen M (2012) Depth of water table prior to ditch network maintenance is a key factor for tree growth response. Scand J For Res 27(7): 649–658. https://doi.org/10.1080/02827581.2012.689004

Sarkkola S, Nieminen M, Koivusalo H, Laurén A, Ahti E, Launiainen S, Nikinmaa E, Laine J, Hökkä, H (2013) Domination of growing-season evapotranspiration over runoff makes ditch network maintenance in mature peatland forests questionable. Mires & Peat 11, article 2.

Schindler DW (2006) Recent advances in the understanding and management of
eutrophication.LimnolOceanogr51:356–363.https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.2006.51.1_part_2.0356

Schönauer M, Väätäinen K, Prinz R, Lindeman H, Pszenny D, Jansen M, Maack J, Talbot B, Astrup R, Jaeger D (2021) Spatio-temporal prediction of soil moisture and soil strength by depth-to-water maps. Int J Appl Earth Obs Geoinf 105, 102614. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jag.2021.102614

Seibert J, McGlynn BL (2007) A new triangular multiple flow direction algorithm for computing upslope areas from gridded digital elevation models. Water Resour Res 43, article id W04501. https://doi.org/10.1029/2006WR005128

Shah NW, Nisbet TR (2019) The effects of forest clearance for peatland restoration on water quality. Sci Total Environ 693, 133617. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.133617

Sharma M, Garg RD, Badenko V, Fedotov A, Min L, Yao A (2020) Potential of airborne LiDAR data for terrain parameters extraction. Quatern Int 575–576: 317–327. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.quaint.2020.07.039

Similä M, Aapala K, Penttinen J (2014) Ecological restoration in drained peatlands – best practices from Finland. Metsähallitus, Natural Heritage Services, Vantaa. ISBN 978-952-295-072-7.

Sirén M, Ala-Ilomäki J, Mäkinen H, Lamminen S, Mikkola T (2013) Harvesting damage caused by thinning of Norway spruce in unfrozen soil. Int J For Eng 24(1): 60–75. https://doi.org/10.1080/19132220.2013.792155

Sirén M, Salmivaara A, Ala-Ilomäki J, Launiainen S, Lindeman H, Uusitalo J, Sutinen R, Hänninen P (2019) Predicting forwarder rut formation on fine-grained mineral soils. Scand J For Res 34(2): 145–154. https://doi.org/10.1080/02827581.2018.1562567

Suvinen A (2006) A GIS-based simulation model for terrain tractability. J Terramech. 43:427–449. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jterra.2005.05.002

Stahl K, Moore RD, Floyer JA, Asplin MG, McKendry IG (2006) Comparison of approaches for spatial interpolation of daily air temperature in a large region with complex topography and highly variable station density. Agric For Meteorol 139(3-4): 224–236. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agrformet.2006.07.004

Synes NW, Osborne PE (2011) Choice of predictor variables as a source of uncertainty in continental-scale species distribution modelling under climate change. Glob Ecol Biogeogr 20(6): 904–914. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1466-8238.2010.00635.x

Tarboton DG (1997) A new method for the determination of flow directions and upslope areas in grid digital elevation models, Water Resour Res 33(2): 309–319. https://doi.org/10.1029/96WR03137

Tammi J, Lappalainen A, Mannio J, Rask M, Vuorenmaa J (1999) Effects of eutrophication on fish and fisheries in Finnish lakes: a survey based on random sampling. Fish Manag Ecol 6(3): 173-186. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2400.1999.00152.x

Tamminen P, Tomppo E (2008) Finnish forest soils. Working Papers of the Finnish Forest Research Institute 100, 21 p. http://urn.fi/URN:ISBN:978-951-40-2139-8

Tolvanen A, Juutinen A, Svento R (2012) Preferences of local people for the use of peatlands: the case of the richest peatland region in Finland. Ecol Soc 18(2), 19. http://dx.doi.org/10.5751/ES-05496-180219

Tolvanen A, Saarimaa M, Ahtikoski A, Haara A, Hotanen J-P, Juutinen A, Kojola S, Kurttila M, Nieminen M, Nousiainen H, Parkkari M, Penttilä T, Sarkkola S, Tarvainen O, Minkkinen K, Ojanen P, Hjort J, Kotavaara O, Rusanen J, Sormunen, H, Aapala K, Heikkinen K, Karppinen A, Martinmäki-Aulaskari K, Sallantaus T, Tuominen S, Vilmi A, Kuokkanen P, Rehell S, Ala-Fossi A, Huotari N (2018) Quantification and valuatian of ecosystem services to optimize sustainable re-use for low-productive drained peatland. Luonnonvara- ja biotalouden tutkitus 48/2018. Natural Resources Institute Finland. http://urn.fi/URN:ISBN:978-952-326-632-2

Tomppo E (1990) Satellite image-based national forest inventory of Finland. The Photogrammetric Journal of Finland 12(1): 115–119.

Tuominen S, Haapanen R (2011) Comparison of grid-based and segment-based estimation of forest attributes using airborne laser scanning and digital aerial imagery. Remote Sens 3(5): 945–961. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs3050945

Tuominen S, Fish S, Poso S (2003) Combining remote sensing, data from earlier inventories, and geostatistical interpolation in multisource forest inventory. Can J For Res 33(4): 624–634. http://dx.doi.org/10.1139/x02-199

Uusitalo J, Salomäki M, Ala-Ilomäki J (2015) Variation of the factors affecting soil bearing capacity of ditched pine bogs in Southern Finland. Scand J For Res 30(5): 429–439. https://doi.org/10.1080/02827581.2015.1012110

Vaahtera E, Niinistö T, Peltola A, Räty M, Sauvula-Seppälä T, Torvelainen J, Uotila E (2021) Finnish Statistical Yearbook of Forestry 2021. Natural Resources Institute Finland. http://urn.fi/URN:ISBN:978-952-380-325-1 Vanhatalo K, Väisänen P, Joensuu S, Sved J, Koistinen A, Äijälä O (2019) Metsänhoidon suositukset suometsien hoitoon, työopas [Best practices for peatland forest management in Finland]. Tapion julkaisuja. ISBN 978-952-5632-74-3

Vastaranta M, Korpela I, Uotila A, Hovi A, Holopainen M (2012) Mapping of snow-damaged trees in bi-temporal airborne LiDAR data. Eur J For Res 131: 1217–1228. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10342-011-0593-2

Vega-Nieva DJ, Murphy PNC, Castonguay M, Ogilvie J, Arp PAA (2009) A modular terrain model for daily variations in machine-specific forest soil trafficability. Can J Soil Sci. 89: 93–109. https://doi.org/10.4141/CJSS06033

Vikman A, Sarkkola S, Koivusalo H, Sallantaus T, Laine J, Silvan N, Nousiainen H, Nieminen M (2010) Nitrogen retention by peatland buffer areas at six forested catchments in southern and central Finland. Hydrobiologia, 641(1): 171-183. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-009-0079-0

Vompersky SE, Sirin AA (1997) Hydrology of drained forested wetlands. Northern forested wetlands: ecology and management. Lewis Publishers, pp 189–211. https://doi.org/10.1201/9780203745380-14

Vosselman G (2000) Slope based filtering of laser altimetry data. IAPRS, Amsterdam, 33(B3/2): 935–942.

Väänänen R, Nieminen M, Vuollekoski M, Nousiainen H, Sallantaus T, Tuittila E-S, Ilvesniemi H (2008) Retention of phosphorus in peatland buffer zones at six forested catchments in southern Finland. Silva Fennica 42(2): 211–231. https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.253

Wang L, Liu H (2006) An efficient method for identifying and filling surface depressions in digital elevation models for hydrologic analysis and modelling. Int J Geogr Inf Sci 20(2): 193–213. https://doi.org/10.1080/13658810500433453

White JC, Wulder MA, Varhola A, Vastaranta M, Coops NC, Cook BD, Pitt D, Woods M (2013). A best practices guide for generating forest inventory attributes from airborne laserscanning data using the area-based approach. Information Report FI-X-010. Natural Resources Canada, Canadian Forest Service, Canadian Wood Fibre Centre, Pacific Forestry Centre, Victoria, British Columbia, 50 p. http://cfs.nrcan.gc.ca/publications?id=34887

Wilson JP, Aggett G, Yongxin D, Lam CS (2008) Water in the landscape: a review of contemporary flow routing algorithms. In: Zhou Q, Lees B, Tang G-a (eds) Advances in digital terrain analysis. Lecture Notes in Geoinformation and Cartography. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 213-236. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-540-77800-4_12

Woodrow K, Lindsay JB, Berg AA (2016) Evaluating DEM conditioning techniques, elevation source data, and grid resolution for field-scale hydrological parameter extraction. J Hydrol 540: 1022–1029. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2016.07.018

40

Wästerlund I (1992) Extent and causes of site damage due to forestry traffic. Scand J For Res. 7:135–142. https://doi.org/10.1080/02827589209382706

Yu X, Hyyppä J, Karjalainen M, Nurminen K, Karila K, Vastaranta M, Kankare V, Kaartinen H, Holopainen M, Honkavaara E, Kukko A, Jaakkola A, Liang X, Wang Y, Hyyppä H, Katoh M (2015) Comparison of laser and stereo optical, SAR and InSAR point clouds from air- and space-borne sources in the retrieval of forest inventory attributes. Remote Sens 7(12): 15933–15954. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs71215809

Zhang W, Montgomery DR (1994). Digital elevation model grid size, landscape representation, and hydrologic simulations. Water Resour Res 30(4): 1019–1028. https://doi.org/10.1029/93WR03553